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common report, because it is a very unfavourable
season for the enemy to invade the Carnatic, with
a body of horse especially, there being very little
water in the rivers or tanks, and also very little
grass for feed.”

“Do you, from your knowledge, think any of
the villages on the frontiers of the Carnatic would
have been proper to have cantoned our troops
in, previous to the invasion of Hyder Ali?”

Answer. ¢ It would have answered no purpose
to have carried them to the frontiers, as there
were several passes through which the enemy
could have come into the Carnatic, and sur-
rounded us ; and, as we had no cavalry, qaight
have prevented any supplies being sent to us.”

“What situation is the most centrical for
assembling an army to cover the different
garrisons ? ”’

Answer. “I believe near Conjeveram and
Wandewash.”

~“From your knowledge of the Nabob of Arcot,
do you think that he was not apprehensive of
such an invasion P ”’

Answer. * The report varied at the Durbar in
the end of May and beginning of June, 1780, and
then I heard the Nabob say that Hyder had sent
-a body of pioneevs to clear the passes; and that
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was the first time he seemed to think it certain
that the Carnatic would be invaded.”

“ Do you think that in April, 1780, the army
was in a proper situation to have taken the field
against the enemy ?”’ |

Answer. “They were both in a proper state
and situation, if hullocks and other common pre-
parations had been provided.”

Colonel Capper described the principal gar-
risons as amply supplied with stores, and * Arcot
a perfect magazine of stores and ammunition.” *

* BEvidences, pp. 49-54. It may be seen, page 161, of the
Minutes of Evidence, that the Counscl, for the prosccution abau-
donede these two paragraphs cf the Bill—127 and 128-—which
charged Sir Thomas Rumbold with * culpable negligence in not
preparflg for the defence of the Carnatic,” &e. ; and also  the con-
cealment imputed to him by Messrs. Smith and Johnson, members
of the Select Committee of Fort St. George, of letters containing
Jmportant intelligence of the preparations making by Hyder for an
invasion, of the Carnatic.” .

After Major Geils’s evidence,—which was given very early, as he
was under orders o return to India,—the first charge was with-
drawn.

[Unfortunately, Listorians, writing under an ynfiiendly bias and
inspiration against Sir Thomas Rumbold, and following each cthet’s
lead, instead of resorting to the original sources of evidence and
information, have retained and handed on charges which the per-
sonal enemies and official antagonists and . nrosecutors of Sir Thomas
Rumbold, in his lifetime, were compelled to abandon.]
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Very particular testimony was also given by
Major Geils, an artillery officer and field engineer.
He stated, that ¢ the fortifications of Madras were
effected during the government of Sir Thomas
Rumbold ; that the artillery were complete with
stores and carriages,’ and in high discipline;”
that *“a body of Lascars was raised, and attached
to the artillery, which ,were found particularly
useful in the field, as well as new corps trained,
that the regular Sepoys might strengthen the
army.”

Major Geils gave it as his decided opinion that,
“ With any force they had to oppose Hyder Alj,
they could not have prevented him from making
himself master of the open country. He looked
upon Madras, Velour, Trichinopoli, and Tdhjore,
as their principal garrisons. None of these had
fallen, but with respect to the inferior garrisons,
they ought to have been erased. I think,’: Major
Geils repeated, “ 1lyder Ali might have entered
the Carnatic, in spite of any disposition we could
have made. ifad [Myder entered by the northern
pass, there were no other troops for the protec-
tion of the Northern Circars than Colonel Bailly’s
division.”’

In the small part of the evidence of these
officers that has been cited, they are found to
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agree in the opinion expressed by Sir Thomas
Bumbold, in his letters to the Council of Bengal,
that they could not protect the country from the
ravages of Hyder, or guard all the passes; and
justity the vroposition, which he twice urged
upon their consideration, that abandoning cther
projects and views, excepting those of necessary
defence against the national enemy, the three
Presidencies should unite to check his power,”
and put an end to the war which was certainly
impending.

Although in the course of what has been
written, some passages from Mr. Hardinge’s
Defenceé of Sir Thomas Rumbold have been occa-
sionalty introduced, the compiler of these docu-
ments was not in possession of that Defence until
the principal part of what is here set forth had
Heen worked out from other sources. The De-
fence Consists of three parts, and is to be met
with in the British Museum ; the first two parts
are complete, the third part is in an abbreviated
form.

It has been a question whether this Defence,
admirable in power, as well as for its eloquence
and wit, should be reprinted and circulated, in
the hope of calling attention to a subject where



MR. HARDINGE'S DEFENCE QF SIR THOMAS. 249

the truth hasbeen too long suffered to remain dis-
guised : but this plan was not carried out, for the
reason that the Defence enters into great detail ;
ind to be thoroughly understood requires some
acquaintance with the very numerous charges of
‘he Bill, and also with the speeches of the Counsel
for the accusation, to whom a great part of it is
rddressed. This objectiou does not apply in the
same degree te. the c?mcluding part, which is
nore general, and a summary of the rest.
A great portion of this is subjoined.



CHAPTER XVIL

EXTRACT FROM THE CONCLUDING CHAPTER OF MR. IIAR-
DINGE'S DEFENCE OF SIR THOMAS RUMBOLD.

ATrTER a recapitulation of wifat took, place on
the subject of the Guntoor Circar in the year
1775, Mr. Hardinge continues :—

1 recur to the duty of Sir Thomas Rumbold
and his Council in 1778, and I ask, if under the
sanctron of the letters from Bengal, especially
the latest, compared with the subsequent events,
and thie Nizam’s violation of his promise, they
were not authorized at one immediate stroke,
(waiting for no further correspondence, either
with ]%eng'al or' the Nizam,) to repossess the
Guntoor. Every single step which the culprit
before us pursucd relative to the Guntoor was
not .only vindicated, but authorized, by the
Governor General, Mr. Hastings. * Over some
parts of his conduct by Sir Thomas Rumbold,
I would throw a veil, if I could; 1()11{, here T
affirm that I can fight in support of the guilt
imputed by this Bill under the shield of &is
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genius and spirit. No doubt of the Company’s
right either to correspond or treat with Bazalet
Jung had been suggested by the Council of
Madras ; and the only doubt which they had
insinuated, was upon the single question of
acquiring the Guntoor by force. But at Bengal,
the right of treating with Bazalet, in a pacific
form, or sword in hand (as the Board of Madras
might think most cllrrlble ,) 1s taken for granted ;
and the letter authorises an immediate force to
be levied, for the purpose of a march to the
borders of Guntoor. If this requisition should
fail, say the Council of Bengal, and he should
refuse instant obedience 1o it, act upon thg other
alternative yourselves,' and after possession thus
obtained, treaty for the cession, that is, €or the
terms of retaining the Circar, alrcady taken into
our hand, (by an act of justice to ourselves,) is
to be formed with Bazalet’s brother the Nizam.”
“ What is the conduct of Sir Thomas Rumbold
and his Council? They had read the latest
instructions from Bengal; they bhad read and
seen how baffled those instructions hatl long been,
partly by the debates of men who should have
acted, and partly by the Nizawn’s breach of good
faith ; yet*thcy could not but sce, that Bengal
had also been inactive, and had not pressed the



252 CHAPTER XVIT.

execution of his own plar, or censured the dis-
regard shown to it by the inferior Council. In
delicacy, therefore, to the superior Board, they
pause; and before they direct those acts of
hostility against the Nizam, which the Govern-
ment of Bengal had even amthorized, they write
a lettet to him: in the genuine spirit of the
instructions beforé them. They tell him ¢that if
he will not consent, they will take effectual
means with Bazalet Jung. They claim’the Port
of Mootapillee, at all events; but unless the
enemy shall be dispossessed, they require the
cession of not Mootapillee alone, but the whole
Circar” At the time of writing, an order was
issued for intcrcepting the first European rein-
forcements that should enter the Guntoor at
Mootapillee. The letter was never answered by
the Nizam.”

“ At a later period, the war preceding the
capture of Pondicherry took place. An abler
and more spirited enterprise was never planned ;
an able and spirited enterprise was never better
executed. «The policy of it was, to rid -us of the
European competition first, and then direct cur
united force against the country powers, whom
the invader had seduced or encourayged in théir
disaffection. For the sl:tpport;t however, of this
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measure, the Northern Circars were in a manner
evacuated, and almost at the mercy of Bazalet’s
friends in the Guntoor. ...... After Pondicherry
was captured, no European enemy remained,
except the garrison of Mahé, and Lally’s force in
the Guntoor. It cowld scarce be imagined that a
mad perseverance of the GGovernment at’ Bengal
in the war against the Mahrattas, with whom
the Nizam and IIyder. Ali were leagued, would
counteract the benefit of such critical services.
After this capture, Sir Thomas Rumbold again
wrote, with no better success, to the Nizam. Ile
desired an answer to the first letter, but no
answer came. In the mean time, Bazalet Jung,
unsolicited, made an offer of the Guntoor upon
terms.”

“ Upon the 22nd of December they apprise the
Government at Bengal of the offer and of their
Treaty, in the cxpress terms of it. They state the
arrangement as made with Bazalet alonefand the
rent stipulated as a compensation to him. The
very name of the Nizam is put aside, and laid
upon the shelf, unless for the purpose of stating
that he has neglected his duty, violated his word,
and sent another shuffling lettcr, since Bazalet’s
offer had Been agcepted. They state the right of
treating with Bazalet, or procecding by force
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against him, a8 authorized by the resuit of ‘ths
correspondence between the Governments in 1775,
and by the events which followed it. |
«“ What is* the conduct of the Government
of Bengal, thus informed? They approve
directly, and without resetve, the  acceptance
of this' overture, and ratify the Articles of
Treaty enclosed, e}.cept 111 two or three parti-
culars, which they correct. They 1et11rn it, 86
corrected, and in express terms authorize thd
Council of Madras to conclude this Treaty with
Bazalet Jung. They speak of the ¢ alliance pro-
posed as affecting hime.” *“We leave it,” says
the letter, ¢ to you to negotiate, and ﬁ_nztlly con-
clude with Zim.” Upen the Nizam, not a syl-.
lable i€ to be found. Could that Government
have acted otherwise, at this later period of their
politics, addressed evidently to the same object,
and affected by the same principles ?  Could they
have said,  You should first have conciliated the
Nizam ?’ Could they have stated his consent as
the express or implied prelimina,ry to the corre-
spondence #nd agreement with his brother ?
Their own words upon record must have confuted
them, and exposed the duplicity of their pohtws
Yet, in the year 1780 they misvepresent, or a.t'
least forget, the tenour of the letters .written by
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themselves in 1775, and preserved upon the
Company’s records.”

~ “¢“We took it for granted’ (they have in 1780
the confidence to affirm) ¢ that you would keep
your Treaties.” They quote a.single passage, with-
out thecontext, as proving the intention of Madras
to consult the Nizam in 1775, which passage T have
alsostated and explained. It imports that having
writtentothe Nizam the Council of Madras wereto
wait for lus answer. Buat why omit the cauhsr*cpleni:
letter of the same Board upon the same topic,
since the answer of the Nizam, for which alone
they had waited, reached them? In 1780 weare
told at Bengal, that ¢when the Council there
approved of this Treaty with Bazalet, in 1778,
they had nothing before them but Sir Thomas
Rumbold’s letter, and had no conception of the
disrespect shown to the Nizam by these mea-
sures.’” Nothing? Had they received no letters
in1775? Had the objection of Treatiessin the
way never been stated? Had it not been
pointedly alleged by the Council of Madras, and
superseded by them? Were not these Treaties
themselves before them enclosed expressly for the
purpose. of marking that Bazaict had violated
thém ? Dl(Pthey not look at these materials, and
examine them ? 'What advice have they given
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after this examination ? They do not say, ¢ Go
to the Nizam first, with your Treaty in your
hand;’ but, ‘Go to the Circar; take it out of
dangerous hands: we must have it. 'When you
have made it our own, treat for an equivalent, if
the parties deserve that mark of attentioun to their
interest, by opposing no force against this neces-
sary act of justice to ourselves.””

<« Such then, after all, is the violation of those
Treaties by the Council of Madras, or their Pre-
sident, (who it seems at this bar must always
answer for them,) a violation € gross and shame-
ful,” as the Bill calls it ; that Bill which points
only at the correspondence and agreement with
Bazalet Jung, for the purpose of ingrafting those
invectéives upon it, and omits the authority given
to possess the Guntoor by force; omits the terms
proposed by cach of the Governments in the year
1775; omits Bazalet Jung’s violation of the
subsisting Treatics; omits the approbation
given by the Dircctors themselves to the mea-
sure; and omits the Nizam’s perfidy, in suffering,
if not enalding, the European troops to form a
junction with Hyder Ali; for whom they were
destined from the first.”

“By the way this injured ally, the Nizam, gave,
soon after his brother had ceded the Guntoor, a
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decrisive and 'striking proof of his own perfidy, by
a letter to that brother, in which he laments
over the loss of the Gunteor, as a loss to their
common interest. ¢ You should not,” said he,
‘have given it up to the Exglish. Ilyder Ali
should have been preferred.” Not a hint there
of Treatics violated by our Government ! In the
very hand of Hyder himself,—in a letter to his
own Vakcel at the Court of Bazalet (a direct
violation of Treaty that such a Viukeel should
have been there) we discover indignation
against Bazalet for his preference of the English
to him. ¢ You have given it,” says the appel-
lant, the injured IHyder, ‘to my bitter enemies,
and have preferred them to me.”” |

¢« The next article before us, is the conduct of
Sir Thomas Rumbold in attempting to obtain
from the Nizam a remission of that yearly sum
which is called the peishcush. The charge rela-
tive to this conduct has made an impressior? upon
the House, because the advocates who stated it,
as well as the Bill, which is always insidious,
have-thrown a mist of prejudice over it ......It
has only to be understood, and the subtleties
which,entangle it will be at an end.”

““ The Bill?calls .the offence by two names, for
two different purposes; and one or other of

S



258 CHAPPER XVIL

them is, of neeessity, false. But I shall fprmre
that neither of them are true. First the &pph-
cation to the Nizam, in the form of a request
‘that he would remit this tribute, is called by the
name of Treaty, for the purpose of making that
measuf.e', so described, a pdsitive disobedience of
an Act of Parliament. But who will seriously
affirm that, if I request an indulgence relative
to some particulars of a right. upon the face of
‘an existing Treaty, I form a new Tleaty by that
request ? In the next breath, however, it is-no
Treaty, for it violates another; whereas Treaty
assumes the arrangement of parties, without
prejudice to the rights of either, and subject, of
course, to their mutual assent or disupprobation
as if’ proceeds. But call it either Treaty or
~application for an indulgence, it violated no
good faith, it offered no injury to the most
punctilious and irritable sense of honour: it
could have no view but that of advantage to the
Company, at a moment of the most critical
peril.”........ ' |
«That & remission of this tribute was desirable;
that it was just and wise to obtain it without
offence to the Nizam, is perfectly agreeds The
justice of it was obvious, and the letter of Treaty
could alone interfere. Where, then, was the
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iniquity, the violeénce, and the wrong of neégo-
tiating a dispensation with a law, if it may be
so termed in this particuliu:-? The wisdom of
the.attempt is proved by the fact, that we conld
not pay the sum; a fact stated in other words
by the accusing Counsel, as atfording a reason
agaiﬁst the attempt, viewed in the light *of an
1nJury to the Nizam. * The House will remem-
ber,’ said he, ¢ that at this period their want of
resounrces, militax 'y and political, was extreme.’
But was that a reason for sleeping over this.
oppressive claim, which hung about our necks
and crushed every hope of exertion against the
embarrassment of our political fortune? .. .. ..
“ A strange inaccuracy occurs in the sentiments
of Bengal disclosed by their letter. They, $irst,
in express terms admit that no attempt had
beenn made by the Council of Madras to obtain
the remission of the peishcush against the
Nizam’s consent: yet, in the same letter] they
msinuate the charge of an oppressive and most
injurious violence to him, as marked in the very
assurance given to him, that if the femission
could not be obtained, the acerued and current
tribute would be paid. 'The subtle ingenuity of
their commedt shall not be injured by me. I
will state it without exaggeration. <It is true
« 2
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that you promise to pay; but you add, that you
will pay when you can, and will resist violence :
from which it is no strained inference to collect
these 1wo propositions. The first, that you will
not pay at ad; and the second, that ycu will
resist ;any demand of payment by force” A
more sophistical. fallacy ncver tortured plain
words, and a context yas never so mutilated.
The words arc :—¢ If all thescefour paopositions
fail, we will pay the balance duc, when in cash.
[We have no design to commence hostilities, or
infringe any of his rights ;] (that paragraph is
omitted by the commentator,) but, ¢ we are pre-
parcd to revenge any insults which may be
offercd.’”

«« he only part of these instructions to Hollond
which point at the policy of addressing the
Nizam in a firmer tone, applies itself to the
support which he had given to Lally’s force in
the Guntoor ; and with a view to that subject, it
was politic as well as just. But no passage in
the letter drops a hint that Ilollond should
insist upt)n the remission proposed...... ¢ Atter
all, (says the letter,) if you cannot obtain the
remission of the entire peishcush, try to lower
it; and- learn if you can £nd an equivalent
which you may tempt the Nizam to. accept.’”
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“I am now to lay before the House a very
important fact in the conduct of the Supreme
Government, and which I defy their advocates
to vindicate as either politic or just. Upon the
single credit of a letter from Mr. Mollond, the
Resident of Madras 2t the Court of the Nizam,
they write at omce .to that Prince, and shspend
all further proceedings between Madras and
him. Why could theyonot have corrected the
erroncous policy of the inferior Council through
that Council ? Why not seem to act in concert
with them, instead of disowning and affronting
them at the Court of a native Prince ? Their own
words, which they falsely apply to Madrasin the
sequel, are with strict justice applicable here to
themselves. ¢ They proclaim to all Indea the
disunion of interest between the two Presi-
dencies.’

¢ The Directors of the Company had, in express
and emphatical terms, disapproved a S$imilar
interference upon a recent occasion; but the
Council of Bengal have short memories. Upon
their own records, we find a letter frdbm hence *
dated February 7th, 1777. TLet the Counsel for
the Bill explair, why the same thing was wrong

* [That is, ?rom the Kust India Directors to the Council of
Bengal.—Ev.],
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at Bombay, and right in 1779 at Madumas. I
shall quote from it without an anachronism.
‘We disapprove your embassy to Poonah,'w_i‘tﬁ-}-
‘out consulting first the Council of Bombay.
‘You state, by your Ambassador, that yon deter-
mine to annul their Treaty. This will degrade
them in the eyes of the natives, and it will be
impossible for them to conduct our affairs in
future, with honour to themselves, or advantage
to us.’”’

“The result of this abrupt and wanton inter-
ference was of course a disagreement between
the two Presidencies; but Madras bowed impli-
citlysto the measure, disputing indeed the policy,
the justice, and even the right of that centrol,
whick the Government had assumed, but making
no opposition to it in fact. It is therefore clear
of doubt, that if that measure had been con-
veyed through the Board of Madras, without any
public: offence to their honour, they would have
co-operated most cheerfully, and surrendered
their own opinions without reluctance.”

“We ate told that ¢ Madras used angry Wnrds
to Bengal,” upon the occasion of this disagree-
ment between them. It is childish to argue
from angry words on either,side n cases like
these. It is at least a measuring cast between
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the parties at variance; and, as to Bengal, the
records of it contain such acrimony of debate,
that you would suppose every day would pro?
duce one duel at least amongst the members
of that Board. But in this correspondence I
discover some facts*and some arguments which
strike me as commanding respect by theif weight
and importance. . The Board of Madras first vindi-
cate the pohcy of, their own conduct ; they lament
the interference of Bengal, and the maunner of it
still more; they add, that nothing but miscon-
struction at the Court of the Nizam can account
for his umbrage, if it was even genwine, at any of
their propositions ; they, however, much tg their
honour, give the point up, and surrender their
own opinions to an act of power, though, jn their
seunse of it, assuined and usurped. What is the
answer from Bengal? ¢ You have yielded, and
we will give you no reason.. Was that concili-
atory language ? But afact appears in the letter
of  Madras which it imported the Councﬂ of
Bengal to explain. Shah Allum had been dis-
possessed of his territories and his tidbute by the
‘Council of Bengal, without any reason assigned ;
whereas the Nizam, as it- was admitted, and
“had been? emphatically urged by the same
‘Council, was meditating .a league with the Mah-.
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rpttas and French against the English Govern-
ment.”

“The natural consequences of this imperious
and wanton control at Bengal over the Board of
Madras were soon marked by the event. It
baffled the recovery of the Guntoor,—a measure
which the Council of Bengal had recently autho-
rized. It courted the Nizam to raise his de-
mands: he claimed the Gunfoor for himself.
This was poetical justice to the Council of Ben-
gal, who had courted him in such flattering
terms, after they had betrayed him at the Court
of Berar...... Another inconvenience arose from
the swspension of those arrangements which the
Board, of Madras were attempting at the Court
of the'Nizam. If Mr. Iollond had pursued their

instructions with fidelity and good sense, an im-

mediate payment of the peishcush could have
been made the just price of Lally’s banishment
from fue Guntoor, whereas the. result of this
abject homage to the Nizam by the supreme Go-
vernment, and of this blind confidence in his
honour, we#s, that pretending to guard the enec-
mies’ force, he connived at their escape into
Hyder Ali’s quarters.”

““ We are next accused of ¢ rgcallide Mr. Hol-
lond.” A very singular and refined imputation it
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is. We recalled that Resident, whose contmg
ance in office had not been desired by either the
Council of Bengal, by the Nizam, or by himself ;
that Resident, who had been of no use to us, but
had merely acted as a parti:ian of the supreme
Government ; that Resident, who had abused our
confidence, and ‘had paid the Council of” Bengal
Jor their protection of him, " by y furnishing them
with a victim, in, piace of themselves ; who had
offended the public justice of the kingdom by en-
couraging the Mahratta war, and affording op-
portunity to a desolating invader’s ambition.
We recalled a Resident, who had proved the
duplicity of his politics by writing to us asletter
of confidence, inconsistent with his letter to
Bengal. He wus recalled without offencesto the
Nizam or himself. - The Nizam had marked a
very abrupt and sudden change of politics, from
the moment in which the Council of Bengal dis-
owned and affronted Madras. He sa¥v with
pleasure the discord between the two Councils,
and encouraged the instrument of it. We have
upon the .records of this period ®a letter to
Bengal, written by the Nizam, and altered by Mr.
Hollond ; (a singular feature of his intrigue and
cabal, whidh of ifself dgisabled him for his office;)
‘but the unaltered parts of that letter have
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i:mwd sense in them, huwmiliating to the “"élittle
politics of Bengal, and a death blow to the influ-
ence of Madras......... But as if the affront put
already upon the Council of Madras, by suspend-
ing their instructions, was not signal enough to
degrade them for ever af the Court of the
Nizam; they direct the agent; Mr. Hollond,
whom that Council had recalled, (by the power
which had appointed him,) to he their own Resi-
dent at the same Court, for the i)urpose' of
carrying into effect a new 'system irrecon-
cileable to "the policy which his first.cre-
dentials had authorized him +to pursue.
Could any act be more injurious, more
oppressive, and more grating to the inferior
Board? It annihilated the respect which had
hitherto been considered as due to the Govern-
ment of Madras; it invited the servants of that
power to disobey their immediate master, and
look tb Bengal for impunity. Fatal polities!
which at an earlier period the same Government
had encouraged, by their sanction to the
calumnies bf Mr. Sadlier.” * |

* This -allusion is not explained. At a later period Mz, Sadlier
appears to have been chiefly instrumental to thei disunion of the
Council of Madras, so disastrons in it# effects : and he was
encouraged to play the part of informant py Mr. Hastings.
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“We may now take our leave of the
peishcush. It is the accuser’s fallacy upon
this charge to convert an cquitable request
into a peremptory command,—an opinion
imparted under the seal of confidence into
a public letter of credentials,—which the
Nizam is to read. It is another of his fa]lacies
to convert the firmness of language appli-
cable only to the Nizam’s tbreat of hostili-
ties to a fdrmness, if not a violence, applicable to
our demand of the peishcush. By the same
powers of magic, in the accuser’s book Hollond’s
disobedicnee of orders to conciliate becomes the
obstinatc perseverance of those who employed
him in the most, offensive mode of application.
The accuser can without cmbarrassmenf expa-
tiate upon the policy and justice of Bengal in
suspending the attempts for the remission of that
very peisheush, which they have themselves
compelled the Nizam to remit as long asthe war
shall continue. He approves their control of an
important measure, set on fogt by the subordi-
nate Government,—a control at onee imperious
and wealk,—Dbut in the next breath he brands the
recall of thelr own Resident by the Madras
Board as the torgh of discord and civil war be-
tween the iwo Presidencies, whose mutual inter-
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est it was to appear, in the eyes of the natives,
one united power.”

“We are next carried from the Nizam to
Hyder Ali; and our hostilities to him in the
Cuddapah are stated as injurious provocations of
his power. The vindication of marching our
troops through a part‘of his territories, in their
way to Adoni, which is upon the western borders
of the Guntoor, is very short, obvious, and com-
plete. The equity of declared hostilities against
him, at this period, was unquestionable;.but I
agrce that it was an article of prudence to
abstain from any wanton or offensive challenge
to hisabilities, resources, and high spirit. The
same prudence warranted the risk of his displea-
sure upon this critical occasion. He had his eye
fixed upon the Guntoor for himself: it was the
direct and chief purpose of sending those troops
at all to guard against him. We pass our troops
through a little edge of the Cuddapah, his recent
conquest, which intercepted our journey to Adoni;
but we direct that offence to him or his agents may
be averted by the most vigilant precautions. Yet
this measure it seems, qualified as it was, ¢ broke
the law of nations, and provoked Hyder’ to en-
mity against the English. As, if hd waited for
provocations, or the resentpient of injuries
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before he would feel that enmity, and would act
upon it. Are we so ignorant of a fact, which
every child knew at Madras, that Hyder had,
long before this period, formed leagues with his
French ally, for our extirpation? 1s it forgot
that Lally waited only for the most favourable
season to improve Iyder’s army by tHe Euro-
pean troops under his coxﬁmand,wl)y those
troops which it,was the policy of Bengal and
Madras t0 banish from the Guntoor, as having
been stationed there with no other view P Never,
Sir, in the name of common sense, let us hear of
Hyder’s objections. What have they ever been,
from the earliest period, but pretences of the
minute (caught as he could find them, and
selected with little care) for acts of hgstility,
operating upon a concerted and predetermined
War Poeenee. He catches at any little twig of com-
plaint. We offended him by the measure of
sending troops at all to Bazalet Jung, which he
called a violation of our Treaties with him. We
offended him by the civil commotions of our
districts upon the border of his dominion; a
complaint which he never could prove. le was
offended by our capture of Maké ; and there, too,
found a Wiolatign of our engagements to him.
At other times he shifted the charge to Bombay,



276 CHAPTER XVII

and aecused that Presidency. He complains that
we forbore to assist him against the Mahrattas.
But he adds to the heap an idle skirmish in his
territories, which accident alone produced, and
which it had been the most anxious policy of
the Madras Council to obviate.”

“I have at length, by many a painful step,
reached the last article of charge in the accuser’s
volume. It states that Sir Thomas Rumbold
neglected his military duties, and courted Hyder
Ali’s invasion, by leaving the Carnatic a sure
conquest for him....... Prove but his guilt in this
part of his conduct, and I will agree that he
deserves, for that guilt alone, every censure in
the power of this House to inflict ;—except a
Bill of pains and penalties;—I say, except such
a Bill, because I, for one, am free to declare,
that if a Minister of this country were to lose a
third of‘the island by neglect and sleep, I could-
still hope to see him rescued from the torture
and inquisition of Bills like these. But such
being the infportance of the charge, and such the
effect of circulating it, hefore it assumed an
authentic form, what is now the end of it ? By
an aecident, we have called a witness tv this part
of the defence. before the accuser in his lone
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journey had arrived at the charge, as it stood in
the Bill. 'That witness, the ablest engineer in
the service, having detailed the whole compass
of mlhtary defence, told you that everything én
specie, the work of Sir Thomas Rumbold, was
feature of peouliar dctivity and care.* He has
also given his general tesfimony to the able and
vigilant exertions of that Governor. So much
for a defence against "the .charge thus antici-
pated: but what became of this charge in the
adversary’s own treatment of it ? Not a shadow
of proof attempted in support of it: the aver-
ment alone remaius upon the face of the Bill,
disowned by the evidence, abandoned by the
‘accuser himself.”

“The Counsel who opened the charge,{,whose
doctrine it is that every allegation of such a Bill
must criminate, and who took it for granted
that evidence would justify that sting which he
supposed every syllable to contain, statedround-

¥ [The expressionsl in the text are correctly printed from® Mr.
_Har;dinoes speech. 1t may be surmised that the meaning is,
““everything after its kind,” or every mdmdual thing. But
although Mr. Hardinge is close and powerful in argument, and
although his bofnposition is laboured*and rhetorical, his English
~ often reads 1ikd that of a Frenchman or (at least) a Welshman,—
. Ebp.].
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ly to us all, that Sir Thcemas Rumbold, instead
of putting the Carnatic in a posture of defence,
had other things to mind, and prepared for his,
own journcy to Europe: but other advocates,
not professional, and long before the Bill was
fromed, circulated the saime assertion; mnot
becausé they believed that it was true, but upon
other principles, and for other purposes. They
had an interest that it {shoui(} be received as
true, and prejudge the vietim, whom i¥ was their
policy to devote. DBut what said the Counsel
who closed the evidence?  His candour
prompted him 1o admit, that he had neither
proved, nor attempted in proof,* this important
allegation ; adding, with a very singular turn of
argument, *that Sir Thomas Rumbold may
prove the reverse” In other words, °¢the
accuser cannot stir his foot, unless we, the
Counsel for the accused, will be so good as to
make avcase for him, by a weak defence of our
client against a deserted imputation.””

“Thus ends the neglect of the Carnatie. It is
a false assertion of the Bill, and perfectly
desperate, unless we should give a degree of

* [So the words stand in the carefully printed copy of the
speech from which Miss Rumbold quotes,ewhich B an elaborate

specimmen of typography.—~—Ep.]
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sanction " to it by our improvident support
of a character which calumny alone has
impeached. " |
““But, ‘it is a negative” I deny it: in ex-
pression it is, in argument it is not. Suppose
neglect the word: s that a negative term ?
Every fact proving the C:;rnm;ic defenceless, or
defensible, is an aﬂirma;tl'.ive. If this doctrine of
negatives can prevail, it supplies a rececipt for
dispensing with proofs on every charge. Here,
Sir, as before, evidence which no ‘court of law
could require, not only vindicates the injured
character, but points out the danger of sporting
with principles of testimony, and reversing’ the
onus probandi. Threc favourite articles 'of this
kind are first experiments of the Bill, and I
scarce know which is the most ungenerous.
-Sir Thomas Rumbold is to shake off Redhead, i
he can: suspicion by a hair connects them in
guilt: it is for him to disunite them.® His
remittances are accused of a corrupt origin : he
must account for every sixpence of them. The
Carnatic shall be defenceless in cons@quence of
bis neglect, (says the accuser,) till he can prove
the reverse. I single out these topics: but I
“could produse twenty more, owk of the accuser’s
'irolilme,' in which _the rule of presuming inno-
T
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cence till crime is proved, has been trampled
under 2

86 much for the singular candour of mVlt;pg-

us to fill up the accuser’s blank, and put our

own figure into the niche prepared for iv. But
_anoth(?lr first experim?ntv of the Bill is, that we
are called upon to answer for ‘our successor at
Madras: (and why not for the successor of that
successor ?) The offences of Mr. Whitehill con-
stitute part of the Bill; and, thoch_;Th not read
against us, they are so connected with allegn-
tions which criminate our conduct, that
it is very difficult for the reader to dlsenta,ngle
themh.”

« But I must not forget ¢ that Mr Smlth one
of tht Council, imputes to Sir Thomas _Rumbold_
a suppression of letters, which gave him early
notice of Hyder Ali’s designs.’  Will it ever be
credited in after-times, that such an allegation,
even of a Legislative indictment, could have seen
the light, in so admired a period of justice and
liberty as the year 1782 ! Has the name of Mr.
Smith, to an imputation destitute of proof Wore
weight, because he is a witness to it, than it
would have carried if he had been the accuser ip
form, and had imiputed by this Billp - It 'Ishoulﬂ
have less: for he does not aver the fact ; stating
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only'that he has reason to believe 1t, that he has
beeﬁ informed of it. T answer him thus: €It is
lnot'the fact : prove it.” ”’

" «Here, too, it is the more ungenerous o
name it, hecause the imputation, weak as it is in
itself, deserved the less. countenance supon
account of the time, place, and other circum-
stances which attended #he original delivery of
it ; for, it will scatce be forgot, that it was first
thrown upon the party accused behind his back,
and out of his reach. But why not call Smith
himself to the bar? 1IIe is in England: and,
sitting perhaps in your gallery, may have heard
his own evidence read. This is indeed a new
and most ingenious refinement of persecution ;
that a witness in support of it may accuse ﬁpon
paper, by affirming in that shape a fact, which
the accuser in form is afraid of attempting tc
substantiate by that same witness at the bag.”

« T could now close the topic. But here, too
as in answer to half the Bill, I must fight
ad'amst every shadow of suspicion, agd accept
every challenge with respect, if it calls in ques.
tion the jealous honour of a character which
'calumny alone can ever dpprecmto Here, too,
I can state, %houg'h in the form of & Defence,
-.fnot the pitiful ground of mere indemnity, o1

T 2
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exemption from blame, but the 1ngenu0us pndq
of superior merit, and of exemplary services to
the public.”

« The immediate cause of the Carnatic war is
a political and perhaps a very idle problem but
it is idler still to name the word provocation as
applicable to Hyder Ali; to .Iﬂpresent him as
wanting provocation to justify his accommodat-
ing argument—the longer sword. But though 1
state the immediate cause of his invasion as
problematical, Ir must yet lay stress upon the war
against the Mahrattas ; that war of Leadenhall
Street, which originated in the fatal politics of
Bombay, but was encouraged and fomented heref
The Mahrattas are close to Hyder; they are h]él
natural enemies ; ; checks upon him if left alone ;
tools in his able hand if provoked by us to form
a league with him. Self-defence, in that event,
enslayes them to him; and he makes use of
them, for his own general purposes of conquest,
first against their persecutor, then against the
suppliants themselves, persecuted by him in their
turn.” ‘ | ‘ |

“It has been sagely argued, °that Wwe Pro-
voked Hyder by arming the Guntoor against
him ;’ because he, it seems, *had fn eye upon it
for himself.” The fact is ¢mportant, and the
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reason may shift for itself: to me it appears a
little Irish. Of the fact we have proof. A letter
of .Hyd& himself to his Vakeel at Bazalet’s
Coﬁrt,.has told us that he, for whose exclusion
from that Court the famous Treaty of Hydrabad,
in 1768, had stipulattd with so anxious a fore-
sight, is offended: with Bazalet -for giving®up the
Guntoor to his old and bitter enemies, the Eng-
lish. T ask no better panegyric of the measure
than such: f#*act. Suppose Hyder to have wrested
from us the Guntoor, while Madras and Bengal
were asleep, in 1776 or 1777 ; it would have been
a more important card for him than all his pre-
sent acquisitions.”

“ It has been also observed by another shrewd
politician, that Hyder himself throws no blame
upon the Mahratta war. To be sure he does not.
First, how could he blame it ? The Mahrattas
were his ancient and habitual enemies ; but, in
the next place, it would have been the ebvious
finesse of a2 much weaker politician than he has
proved himself, 1o conceal their new confederacy
with him, and assign other pretences €or his war
against us, upon the footing of his independent_'
claim to redress by the swerd.”

“ Tt hasibeelf,said that we drove, or might
“have driven. the' Nizam into the Mahl_'a,tta war,
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upon the side of dur enemies ; yet the fact is no-
torious, that Hyder Ali had it in view by that
war to extirpate the Nizam, and make a partltwu
of his territories! It will appear, too, that
whatever share the Nizam took in the confede-
racy against us, it was prior to the date of any
suppoded offence on our part.” - |

«« Another cause of the Carnatic war may, with
some proBability, be resolved into the connivance
of Madras and ‘Bengal at Hyder’s“cnown con-
nexion with his French ally, in the Guntoor
Circar, between' 1775 and 1778. ILally’s force,
during that interval, had so incrcased and aceu+
multited, that Bazalet could not have guardedsed
against them, if the Nizam had left him to lum-?
self;, but he saved him from the risk of the
attempt by taking them into his’ care,—till the
birds were flown.”

‘¢ As to the general suspicion of Hyder’s pur-
posess for some time before he entered the Car-
natic, it is a fact agreed. The Bill, which is
above attention to dates when the discovery of
them forrfis the whole difference in the argument,
remarks, that Sir Thomas Rumbold and his
Council had notiee of Hyder’s intention from
the Nabob of Arcot. The fac} is trgie ;- but when
had he such a notice ? Fourteen months before
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Hyder left: his capital the Nabob advised the
?'Govemor of Madras to assemble an  army
”Govemor to this early notme from the Nabob is
forgot by the accuser; (whose memory, as I
must often observd, has whimsical flights of
power and imperfection ;)* the answer sfated as
a fact that Hyder had retreated from the borders
of the Carnatic to his capital; and the Nabob,
apprised or*that fact, had no cther information,
‘which led him to repeat’ t}w ajarm during the
whole remainder of Sir i‘h.omas, Rumbold’s
government. It was the policy of that Govern-
ment partly to seem convinced of Hyder’s pacific
designs, and partly to conciliate him, -without
’stooping to him; for he could not then be op-
posed with any chance of success. The invasion
was in, fact unprovoked. From so early a period
as that of the first month in Sir Thomas Rum-
bold’s government all the means in his power to
conciliate Hyder were put in practice. The an- -
swers of that chief were insidions and false.
But one fact is necessary to be obserwed, because
it amounts to a most emphatical distinction be-
‘tween the policy of Madras .and that of Bengal
respecting im. I have said that 1t was a part .
of his finesse to hold himself. out as the enemv
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of the Mahrattas: upon the artful plea of that
enmity he made propositions by his Vakeel at
Madras in favour of Ragonaut Row; but the
Council of Bengal paid no attention to them;
they were too deep in their new politics of de-
sertmw that fugitive Prince ‘as their ally, and of
acceptmg the Rajah ‘of Berar ‘in exchange for
him.”

“But let us examine a little more clo
Hyder’s provocations. The fivst is, ¥that in th
capture of Mahé we broke oar Treaty with him.’
The second, ¢ that our agents or officers com-
mitted irregularitics upon his borders;® but he
never attempts any cvidence of the fact. As a
third he states, ¢ A dispute with Bombay upon the
subjea’ of Tellicherry,” in which, to do that
Presidency justice, the accusation was unmerited.
As a fourth,  Our help to Bazalet Jung;’ and
that becomes a favouritc article of complaint,
thougli coupled in general with our capture of
Mahé. 1Ile divides the remonstrance against our
help to Bazalet into two parts; complaining first
of any assistance to himas a violation of Treaty ;
and tacking to it our little skirmish with his
military upon the ‘borders of the Cuddapah in
the march pf our troops to Adond But not
satisfied with all ‘thesc attacks upon us, he tells
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an old story of our perfidious conduct in declin-
ing to assist him against the Mahrattas. This
tQo it seems was a violation of Treaty with
him ; but the complaint of it is most artfully
urged in that moment, and conflrms what I said
of his finesse in affecting enmity against the
Mahrattas, for the purpogc of our delusidn, while
he was forming a league with them, and pointing
it against us.”

“Yet, Sir, any man of common discernment,
if he is not an absolute novice and a child in
Bastern politics, will tell you that none of these
alleged Itro{roeations gave, or could have given,
any real offence to him; that his provdeation
was the oprorTUNITY of support from the Mah-
rattas and Trench, united in a firm, league
against the English Government. So much for
notices, provocations, and causes of the Carnatic
war.”

‘“ Let us now disscet the unprepare® state of
resistance, the inactivity and sleep of the
Governor. 1lis first answer shall be at Pondi-
cherry, and the second at Mahé. TRose eloquent
scenes of action shall plead for him, displaying
exertions no less able thun spirited ; the policy,
that of ®xtirpating the European competitor,
and victory the mode of executing it. Sir Eyre
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Cooté' shall speak for him in February; 1779, a
testimony which does both of them honour.
He shall distinguish the Board of Madras from all
the other Presidencies, for their high spirit, zeal,

and judicious conduct, in military as well as
political resource, under a heavy load of -eipense,
and enfcompassed- with difficulties on every
side.* |

“ In that same year (1779) the Board of, Ma:
dras, with Sir Eyre Coote’s approbatiofi, solicited
a march of the Bengal troops to their aid, but
solicited it in vain ; the casting vote was against
them. Resources from that quarter having been
thus vefused or impotent; what is the general
tenor of “conduct observed at Madras? An ap-
pafent gonfidence in Hyder’s professions; cold as
they were ; the most anxious attempts to avert
the impending blow by terms with him ; and, in
the mean time, every possible exertion against
possible impediment.”

“An army could not be ‘assembled in the_
field a moment before it should be necessary to
be assembled for immediate action ; till that mo-
ment should call for it, the funds of the settle-
ment were not equal to the expense of such a

_ % See Letter from Sir Byre Coote to ¢he Chhrman of the
Court of Dlrector«. Appendix.
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.megsitre ; and the necessity so described never
in fact arose while Sir Thomas Rumbold con-
tinued at Madras. But an army was at hand ;
and the ablest commander-in-chief could hot
have arranged a defensive to that amount, in
the came period of*time, with more consummate
skill. The cvidence of Major Geils has given a
decisive and most honourable testimony of this
fact Great cantonments were impracticable;
the expense of them would have been cnormous;
and the Government had a sinking treasure
scarcely equal to a peace estdblishment; words
often repeated because they cannot be too often
impressed.”

“ In January, 1780, a return was made of the
military complement, ready at a short notwe for
the field. Let me ask the most ﬂcpompllshed
military experience in the East, if the canton-
ments of that return could have been improved ?
The difficulties arising from situation alone were
critical. They are obvious to those who are con-
versant in that scene; but they are perhaps new
te many in this HHouse.”

““The dimensions and shape of the Carnatic
are material to be known: it is from eighty to
one hundyged miles in breadth ; in length it forms
the compass of no less than five or six hundred ;
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its neighbourhood is no light feature in the
argument, in this view of it; bordered by
active enemies to the west, by the sea to the east,
and by that Guntoor to the north, which cuts
off the Carnatic from the Northern Circars, and
which, though it might have'becn our own, we
have recently given to a perfidious ally. The
Circars are close to the Rajah of Berar, an ally of
the Mahrattas. It is true that Bengal would
have made him®our ally if she could; *but how ?
By engaging to support him against the Nizam,
their later favourite.”

“Trichinopoli, Palemcotta, Madurah, Cara-
coil, 4nd Tanjore, the chief garrisons to the
south, could not he left without any defence at
all: they had only ten companies, and three
battalions of Sepoys.”

“ Had Baillie, upon the first notice of Hyder’s
movemecnts from his capital, after Sir Thomas
Rumbold’s departure, joined the main army, in:
stecad of marching into Cuddapah, the success
of Hyder would have been at least obstructed,
and the gafrisons of the Carnatic would hdve
been safe.”

“ The Directors had ordered the Board of
Madras to reinforce the operatiqns of; the Mah-
ratta war; that fatal measure which they obsti-
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nately pursned, and felf it their point of houour
to push; that measure to which the culprit of
this Bill was uniformly averse, and marked his
aversion at the memorable period of 1780. The
Council of Madras during his government,
united in that opi:lion, were against all detach-
ments from their force in support of those fatal
politics. Early in 1778 they refused a rcinforce-
ment asked of them by that Council of Bombay,
who first advised the war. But'a letter from the
Directors, arriving soon after this refusal, ¢om-
manded inaplicit obedience to any such requisi-
tions in future.”

“To Bengal, however, the Board of Madras
importunately urged their distress ‘and their
fears; calling upon the deaf, again agd again,
for an additional force and supply of treasure;
yet, with full notice of those difficulties, thal
feeling Board, whose charity they besought, had
the conscience to direct a large reinforéement of
their own troops from the military of Madras,
amounting to six or seven hundred, (Europcans
and artillery,) with a battalion of Sepoys. This,
too, was a cheat upon Madras into the bargain,
Stated as a force intended -against the European
enemy alone, and as an olive bianch upon the
sword, for the purpose of terminating the Mah-
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ratta hostilities, it pursued the most intémpetate
measures and fed the war.”
- % One argument for the measure at Bengal was
;thls ¢Hyder Ali and the Mahrattas may
join’ Agreed. What then P Will you there-
fore detach to the Coast of Malabar the force of
the Carnatie, known to be the object of this
impending blow, and the most vulnerable, till
you have dismantled all its garrisons, and left
them to the mercy of Hyder, at their elbow ?

“ But new dlihcultlc s arose. In the year 1780
a hundred men, formed of -a company in Lord
Macleod’s regiment, our chief strength, was de-
sired by Sir Eyre Coote, for his body guard. Tt
was refused by Sir Thomas Rumbold; but ‘the
successoy was more accommodating. In the
mean time Bengal had sent a very inadequate
supply, after delay upon delay and reiterated
importunities.”
- T have stated the necessity of paying some
attention to the southern garrisons. Let us now
look at the nearer cantonments. Conjeveram, or
‘Wandewash, is agreed as forming the’ centrical
position ; and the distance to it from those can-
tonments was between forty and nfty miles. An
army could haye been brought imto tife ficld in
three weekb ‘Baillie’s detachment stationed in
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the Guntool', was the oply one at a distance.
'_(‘ Why stationed in the Guntoor ?* ask the timid
and shuffling. politics of Madras in the year
1775.) But leave him there, and recail the
detachment sent by the orders of Bengal the
army will then be of t]ns amount : forty-six
~artillery, two thousdnd nine hundred and’twenty-
~eight infantry, seven thousa,nd seven hundred
and  fifty-seven Sepoys an army considered
equal to ailty Indian service. But if Baillie and
his forge had been superadded in time, the whole
wust have been so formidable that we may
doubt if Hyder would even have encountered
it.”

“Qur evidence will compare these canton-
ments to those of the period in whjch the
government of this inactive President began ;
that you may do justice to his improvements of
the system. As to the little out garrisons, it
was better policy to have left them undé&fended,
and even dismantled, the master of the field
being sure of them.” |

¢ Stores of every kind were ample, and Well
supplied. When Arcot fell, the fact was proved,
there at least ; and that capture was the more
lamented tpon this account Indeed, no princi-
Eal garrison of ours had been taken at so late a
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period as February, 1782, In Janu'a,rv, 1780,
hopes were formed at Madras that Hyder would
not invade. But Sir Thomas Rumbold owns to
the Directors, without reserve, that he has mo
security, and looks at the sword as hung by a
little thread over us, till the Mahratta war is
closed.”™. .. ...

“ 8ir Thomas Rumbold had not left Madras,
when other assurances camc that Hyder would
not enter the Carnatic. Ile was then at his
capital, and the season was far advanced. No
letter from the Nabob communicated any ala,rm-
ing intelligence; and Baillie, who watched
Hyde:’s motions, even after Sir Thomas Rum-
bold quitted Madras, had formed hopes that, for
that year at lcast, we should be safe. We had
only a defensive, and it would have been perfect
madness to have drawn our force from Pondi-
cherry, or the south, till the last extremitey.
Hyder did not move till June, or pass into the
Carnatic till July 23rd.”......

“The field artillery was complcte, no one
principal garrison deficient ; and every loan from
each of them, for the sieges of Pondicherry or
Mahé, strictly paid.”

“The fortifications of Madrgs were favourite
objects of Sir Thomas Rumbold, and formed the
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most consummate works of the kind that India
ever saw. We shall prove their merit by the
ablest engineers in the service.”

“In a system of defence thus complicated,
against enemies on every side, an exhausted
revenue, interna) abuses, and the jealousy of the
native, it was not in hufan- power to®disarm
every cavil of political q].lvon. But who could,
in gencral, have shoun more activity, penetra-
tion, judgntent, and b])lllf than we have proved
the features of his conduct, who, according to
the Bill, descrted Madras almbst in the act of
opcning its arwms to the invader, and better pre-
pared for his conquest, than for our dcéfence
against him ¥ ”’

“ Preparations against Ilyder and his French
ally! What eclse are his crimes ? and what
othgr stamp 1s marked upon them by the seal of
truth ? Ile prepared against these enemies of
his Government the very day prior to the 4th of
March,—which is the date of his first crime,—
by directing the most accurate survey, and
return of the defensive complement* He pre-
pared-against them, by extinguishing that flame
of jealousy, the circuit: by .correcting the in-
trigues of the sqbordmate by conciliating the
affections of the native at Madras : by improving

-
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the revenue there: by assuring that tmprove-
ment for a term, and by reconciling native to
native, whose dissensions were always felt in the
Company’s treasurc : by appointing Sitte am to
be the Duan of a rich and extensive district;
which, under his management, (has proved the
most liberal fund -of resource to us in the war:
by substituting a reform of system, in place of
an odious prosccution against a personal victim,
selected from his own Council, on* a charge
unauthenticated, and imputing to him the vice
of general habit and custom: by carnest, though
fruitless and Dbaifled attempts, to extirpats
Lally's troops from the Guntoor: by recovering
that Guntoor into the Company’s hand. by
attempting the remission or diminution of a tax,
which was a voluntary boon of ours in better
times, accompanied by an assurance on the part
of the Nizam that it never would be enforced ;
a tax that then we could not pay, and would
have stripped ourselves to clothe our enciy : by
political attentions to the Nabob, our firm ally,
without prejudice to the revenue : by exclaiming,
at cvery personal hazard, against the Mahratta,
war, now condemned on every side as the most
animating spur to Hyder’s invasion: by
measures veither abject nor offensive, in his
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treatment of Hyder’s person: by the most rigid
parsimony : by efforts almost incredible against
every embarrassment, actual or foreseen : and,
last of all, by the muster and arrangement of a
force, which the confederates would never have
looked in the face, if it had remained united,
when the Carnatic reccived “the ‘first impression
of Hyder’s foot.”

U 2
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ON MR. HASTINGS’ POLICY IN RE3ARD TO TAE WAR WITH
HYDER, AND ON HIS RELATIONS WITH SIR THOMAS RUM-
BOLD'S SUCCESSORS AT MADRAS, MR. WRITEHILL AND
LORD MACARTNEY, AS ILLUSTRATING HIS TREATMUNT OF
SIR THOMAS RUMBOLD.*

ThE censure cast upou ‘‘the Authorities of
the South” by Tord Macaulay, which has been
noticed in some of the foregeing pages, is
follawed by a short account, magnificently given,
of the calamity in the Carnatic, and the conduct
of Mr. Ilastings, on that occasion, according to
the usaally received opinions.

“Then it was, that the fertile genius and se-
rene courage of llastings achieved their most
signal triumph. A swift ship, flying before the
south-west monsoon, brought the evil tidings in
a few days to Calcutta....... The struggle with
Hyder was a struggle for life or death.......It
was no time for trifling. llastings resolved to
resort to an extreme exercise of power, to sus-
pend the incapable Governor of Fort St. George,

* First Report, Appendix, No. 43,
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to send Sir Eyre Coote to oppose Hyder, and to
entrust that distinguished General with the
whole administration of the war.”

That it was in truth a struggle for life or
death was probably now felt by Mr. Hastings,
and that he had -trifled too long. The dangers
that were gathering round the Company had
been for some time known to him: he had
judged that the Nizam must be conciliated at
any sacrifice. The army of the Rajah of Berar
advanced to the confines of Bengal, in pursuance
of the engagement entered into with the con-
federates, must he kept in check. Still the
Governor-General persisted in his Mahratta .pro-
jects, ‘undertaken doubtless with some view,
present or ulteiior, for the benefit of the ,Com-
pany and the mnation, but wlich the various
explanations offered have never reundered very
comprehensible, and which in the event proved of
most unsound policy, since it led the different
chiefs to compose their own disputes, and re-unite
to direct their resentment against us. Yet Mr.
Hastings fiattered himself he should Tedeem the
past by bringing all to a favourableissue. He
had disregarded the serious expostulations ad-
dressed to Wira far peace with the , Mahrallas,
on any moderate terms; and even after the
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departure of Sir Thomas Rumbold, deaf to
the warnings of the Madras Board, that
Hyder’s projects were ripening, and then, that
he had actually invaded the Carnatic, Mr.
Hastings still held on. It was only when the news
of Colonel Baillie’s defeat reached Bengal that
it was resolved, “That all minor objects should
be sacrificed to the preservation of the Carnatic,
the disputes with the Mahrattps must be accom-
modated, a large military force and a supply of
money must be instantly sent to Madras.” *
Even at this conjuncture Mr. Iastings had
private feclings to gratify. For the summary
measure of ruspending Mr. Whitehill, Sir
Thomas Rumbold’s successor at Madras, Lord
Macaljla,y and other writers have lent to Mr.
Hastings motives that he did not allege for him-
self. No person can read the correspondence that
passed on this occasion between the Governor-
General and Mr. Whitehill, without bheing
aware that it was not the ‘““incapacity of the
Governor of Fort St. George’ that was the
cause of “his suspension. Neither had Mr.
Hastings any ground for supposing that all the
Board of Madras, including Mr. Whitehill,
would not have accepted the wuthority of Sir

* Macaulay’s Essay on Warren Hastings.
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Eyre Coote as implicitly as Sir Hector Munro
appears to have done. These are motives that
have been supplied to Mr. ITastings, in order to
extol his conduct on that occasion, and to justify
the insults offered to the Presidency of Madras.

It is time to state the facts as they may be
gathered from the Appendices to the Reports of
the Committee. Mr. Iastings had required the
surrender of the Guntoor.* as a Dait to the
Nizam, rendered necessary, nerhaps, by the re-
sults of his own crooked policy, and, it may be
added, from the unworthy metive of defeating
the work of Sir Thomas Rumbold.

The demand of Mr. ITastings was taken into con-
sideration by the Board at Madras,who demurred

* Sccond Report, Appendix, No. 98.

+ August Tth, 1780, Sir Heetor Munro delivered {1#& following
Minute at Madras :—

“ As the giving up the Guntoor Cirear, after getting possession
of it, (and that with the apprcbation of the Supreme Council of
Bengal,) may be disapproved by our employers at hoite, I am»
opinion the Governor-General and Council’s last letter ought to
be answeied fully ; reasons gwen why the Guntoor Cirear should
nat be given up; and if ultimately they insist ypon it, they must
in every. rcspect be mndo answerable for the consequences; and
J am of opinion, if it s given u, that Bazalet Jung ought to
have it 2iven to him, and not the” Nizam, as we had it from
Bazalet Jung gbut 1 ar for holding our possc squm until we have
an answer to our next letteron the subject from Be ngal.”’— Appendix
to First ]{opc;rt, No. &.
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as to the justice and propriety of giving up the
Guntoor to the Nizawa, instead of restoring it to
Bazalet Jung, by whom it had been ceded to
them, and also from the apprehension that it
would pass into the hands of IIyder; but the
distress of their condition 1¢d them to comply
strictly swith the inju'actions of- the Governor-
General. The Nizam was written to, to that
effect ; and Mr. Whitchill wrote an assurance to
Mzr. Hastings, that the affair should be concluded
according to his desire, and as speedily as the
nature of the cirewinstances would admit. This
letter apologized for past delay, on the score of
the great iroubles that had intervened. Al-
though Mr. Whitchill’s letter was couched in
respectful terms; yet, while yielding the Gun-
toor, He reminded ihe Governor-General that
the conduct of the Presidency had been fully
sanctioneu by himself.*

Previpusly to this correspondence, every item
of intelligence rcecived at Madras respecting
Hyder’s motions was transmitted to Bengal,
and with remewed solicitations for assistance.

On the 28th of June a letter of intelligence,

dated from the Cape of Good Ilope, was for-

* Tirst Report, Appendix, No. 8.
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warded to Bengal, and with it Mr. Whitehill
wrote as follows :—

_“You will be able to judge from these papers
what credit is due to the report of a French
armament preparing for India..... »-Should
such an armament really come abroad, the
object of it must be, we conceive, te aid the
Mahrattas or 1lyder Ali, and indeed the motions
of this chief strongly ‘indicate an expectation of
powerful stipport from the French....... His army
18 now assembled at Bangalore, and equipped in
every respect for immediate action. Part of it
is actually advanced towards the frontiers of the
Carnatic. Such is the appearance of thihgs at
preseﬁt. If an invasion takes place, -we shall
act in the Lest manner we can for the defence
of the country; but we fear vur difficuftics will
be great for want of moncy, as our ordinary
supplics depend upon the growing revenues,
which, in case of invasion, will fall very
short.”” *

Again, on the 25th of July :—
"¢ Qur last letter gave you information of the
approach of 1lyder Ali with a large army
towards our frontiers; w. now transmit two
papers of, intc]%ligence just rccei\ied, by which
* First Report, Appendix, No. 40.
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you will learn, that he has actually detached
part of his cavalry into the Carnatic, and is
preparfng to follow with his whole army. We
are taking measures to assemble our troops in a
proper situation to oppose this, and defend the
country in the hest manner we are able; but the
alarmns *already eoccaioned, have driven the
people from their habitations, and put an entire
stop to the tillage of the Ez;rmnul.”**......

And again on the 18th of August 1+

¢ Hyder has employed a considerable body of
horse in ravaging"the Carnatic; and he himself,
with the rest of his army, has advanced as far
as Arnee, and taken three or four small forts,
which were garrisened by the Nahob’s ].)(\nple.
...... As it will be impossible for us to carry on
this war without supplies from Bengal, we are
anxious to Dbe informed when, and to what
extent, you may be able to supply us.” +

Meanwhile an attempt was made to raise
money upon bonds, but with very inadequate
suceess. |

No heed shaving been paid to these lettiers,
and others which are recorded in the Appendix
to the First Report ;. on the 14th of September,

* First Report, Appendix, No, 1.
t 1bid., No. 6.
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Sir Edward Hughes addressed this scrious re-
monstrance to the Council of Bengal :—

_“T think it my indispensable duty to warn
you, Sir, and gentlemen, of the evident necessity
there now exists to guard not only the Cqmpany’s
territories on this coast, but even Fort St. George
itself, from the arms of’ France and iTyder, at
this time when the whole national strength is
required to nake head against the combined
force of ¥rance and Spain, and our rebellious
colonies ; and that this may be more casily and
cffectually done, I most ecwrnestly wish and
recommend thut, laying aside all other plans of
operation against the Mahrattas, or any other
country powers, the three DIresidencies do
heartily concur by every means both of men,
and money, and 1rcatics, to reduce this’habitual
foe to the Iinglish nation within duc bounds

As far as my knowledge of land service assists
me, it appears to me, under the presend circum-
stances, and with all the force this Presidency
can possibly bring into thie ficld, they will be in
ho condition to face the enemy, 1ror will troops
alone save this sinking settiement; for I am as-
sured by the Governor they have no money in the
treasury, nor 3Py evident means (?f raising it, in
any proportion adequate to their present exigen-



